IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA 1 2 ESTATE OF MICHAEL DAVID 3 ADAMS, BY AND THROUGH Supreme Court No.: 68033 HIS MOTHER JUDITH ADAMS, District Court Case No.: Feb 240 2016 09:39 a.m. 4 INDIVIDUALLY AND ON BEHALF OF THE ESTATE, 5 Tracie K. Lindeman Clerk of Supreme Court Appellant, 6 v. 7 SUSAN FALLINI, 8 Respondent. 9 10 Appeal from the Fifth Judicial District Court of the State of Nevada in and for the County of Nye 11 The Honorable Robert W. Lane, District Judge 12 13 **APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF** 14 15 John P. Aldrich, Esq. 16 Nevada Bar No. 6877 ALDRICH LAW FIRM, LTD. 17 1601 S. Rainbow Blvd. Suite 160 Las Vegas, Nevada 89146 Tel (702) 853-5490 Fax (702) 227-1975 Attorneys fo

JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT

The Nevada Supreme Court has jurisdiction pursuant to NRAP 3A(b)(1).

This district court entered final judgment dismissing Plaintiff's case on April 17, 2015. Notice of entry was provided on April 21, 2015. Notice of appeal was filed on May 15, 2015. As such, Plaintiff's appeal was timely pursuant to NRAP 4(a).

II.

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

The original default judgment and all related issues in this case had already been considered and decided by the Nevada Supreme Court in the original appeal. See Order Affirming in Part, Reversing in Part and Remanding (AA, IV,732-0738.) However, the district court exceeded its jurisdiction, ignored this Court's prior decision, and set aside this original judgment that had already been affirmed by this Court. The district court then entered subsequent unlawful orders, ultimately dismissing Plaintiff's case. Consequently, the issues are as follows:

- A. Were the August 6, 2014 Order and all subsequent orders void pursuant to the doctrine of rule of mandate because this Honorable Court had already entered the Order Affirming in Part, Reversing in Part and Remanding (AA, IV,732-0738) in this case, in which this Honorable Court had already addressed the issues raised by Defendant in her Motion for Relief from Judgment Pursuant to NRCP 60(b)?
- B. Did the law of the case doctrine preclude the district court from granting Defendant's Motion for Relief from Judgment Pursuant to NRCP 60(b) and entering all subsequent orders?
- C. Did the doctrine of issue preclusion prohibit the district court from granting Defendant's Motion for Relief from Judgment Pursuant to NRCP 60(b) and entering all subsequent orders?

- D. Even if the doctrines of rule of mandate, law of the case, and issue preclusion did not preclude the district court from granting Defendant's Motion for Relief from Judgment Pursuant to NRCP 60(b) and entering all subsequent orders, did the district court abuse its discretion when it entered the August 6, 2014 Order and all subsequent orders?
- E. Did the district court err when it denied Plaintiff's Countermotion for Entry of Final Judgment?

Ш.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This case has been ongoing for nine years. During that time, Defendant repeatedly failed and refused to participate in the discovery process. Plaintiff was forced to bring a series of motions to compel, all of which were granted. Nevertheless, Defendant continued to fail and refuse to participate in discovery or obey the district court's orders. Consequently, the district court struck Defendant's answer and counterclaim as a sanction and entered default judgment against Defendant. Again, default judgment was entered as a *sanction*; the default judgment was not related to Defendant's admissions. Defendant appealed the entry of judgment against her.

The Nevada Supreme Court's Order Affirming in Part, Reversing in Part, and Remanding, entered on March 29, 2013 (AA, IV, 0732-0738), fully adjudicated all of the issues that were raised in Defendant's Motion for Relief from Judgment Pursuant to NRCP 60(b). The doctrines of rule of mandate, law of the case, and issue preclusion prohibit the district court from taking any further action on those issues. Defendant did not raise any new issues in her Motion for Relief from Judgment Pursuant to NRCP 60(b) to support the district court's orders now on appeal. Rather, Defendant regurgitated her arguments, sought to admit inadmissable hearsay evidence through unauthenticated documents, and filled the courtroom with 60 or so fellow

ranchers in what appeared to be an effort to intimidate the district court.

The district court then acted without jurisdiction and contrary to law when it later granted Defendant's Motion for Relief from Judgment Pursuant to NRCP 60(b). The grounds set forth in the Defendant's Motion had already been litigated before the district court in this case, a separate district court Judge in the Fifth Judicial District, and most importantly, the Nevada Supreme Court on Defendant's direct appeal. In granting Defendant's Motion for Relief from Judgment Pursuant to NRCP 60(b), the district court ignored the Supreme Court's prior Order in this case, the well-established law regarding admissions pursuant to NRCP 36, and well established law.

Further, the district court erred when it entered conclusions of law (a) that Mr. Aldrich violated his duty of candor under Nevada Rules of Professional Conduct 3.3 and (b) that Plaintiff somehow "violated Rule 60(b)" and "perpetrat[ed] a fraud upon the court" by sending a request for admission as part of the discovery process. Plaintiff and her counsel did not violate any ethics rule, nor did they perpetrate fraud on the court. To the contrary, the requests for admission, which Defendant never responded to, addressed specific affirmative defenses and Defendant's counterclaim. In addition, during the prove-up hearing on **July 19, 2010**, the district court admitted it **knew** where the incident occurred, and *at the request of Defendant*, the Court *took judicial notice* that the incident occurred on open range. (AA II, 0322.) Consequently, there could be no fraud on the court.

Moreover, the district court erred when it made findings and conclusions that were directly contrary to the admissions that had previously been made by Defendant pursuant to NRCP 36 nearly seven years before the hearing on Defendant's Motion for Relief from Judgment Pursuant to NRCP 60(b). Those admissions were made in 2007 and remain as admissions in this case, as affirmed by the Nevada Supreme Court.

1 | 2 | ag | 3 | jud | 4 | de | 5 | Pl | 6 | th | 7 | red | 8 | Or | 9 | de | 10 | Pu | 11 | or |

Finally, following the entry of the August 6, 2014 Order, the district court once again ignored the Supreme Court's previous rulings by unilaterally entering final judgment in Defendant's favor and dismissing the case, despite this Court's prior decision, based on the district court's erroneous finding of fraud on the court. Plaintiff respectfully requests that this Court overturn the district court's dismissal of the case in the Order entered on April 17, 2015. Plaintiff further respectfully requests that this Court overturn the findings of the district court's August 6, 2014 Order, and make specific findings: (1) that the Nevada Supreme Court has already decided the issues raised by Defendant in her Motion for Relief from Judgment Pursuant to NRCP 60(b), (2) that Plaintiff and her counsel did not perpetrate a fraud on the Court, and (3) that the judgment that was entered in Plaintiff's favor on April 28, 2014 be reinstated, as if the August 6, 2014 Order and those following it had never been entered.

IV.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

A. Factual History

Michael David Adams ("Michael") was born on May 10, 1972. He was the only child of the marriage between Judith and Tony Adams. Michael was an extremely loving child, and grew into an extremely loving man. (AA II, 0206.) Michael worked as a staff geologist for Southern California Geotechnical Inc., making approximately \$45,000.00 per year plus benefits. (AA II, 0230.)

On July 7, 2005 at around 9:00 p.m., Michael was driving his 1994 Jeep Wrangler on SR 375 highway in Nye County, Nevada. (AA Vol. I, 0003.) As Michael drove, a Hereford cow suddenly appeared in Michael's travel lane, blocking his path. (AA I, 0003.) Michael was unable to avoid colliding with the cow and he hit the animal head-on. As a result of the impact, Michael's Jeep rolled over and left the paved highway. Sadly, Michael died at the scene. (AA I, 0003.)

Defendant Fallini was the owner of the cow which was in Michael's travel lane and caused his death. (AA I, 0002.) The cow was many miles away from the owner's ranch at the time of the incident. (AA I, 0004.) Further, Defendant Fallini had taken no precautions to keep the cow from the highway where the collision occurred. (AA I, 0003.) As a direct and proximate result of Defendant Fallini's negligence, Michael was killed. (AA I, 0003.)

As set forth below in the procedural history of this case, Defendant Fallini was sent discovery requests, including Requests for Admission. Defendant Fallini never responded to any of these requests. Due to the fact Defendant Fallini failed to respond to the Request for Admissions within 30 days of service (or ever), the following facts were conclusively established, as a matter of law:

- 1. That Defendant Fallini's property is not located within "open range."
- 2. That Defendant Fallini is the owner of the cow that is mentioned in the Complaint.
- 3. That it is the common practice of Nye County ranchers to mark their cattle with reflective or luminescent tags.
- 4. That the subject cow was not marked with a reflective or luminescent tag.
- 5. That the subject cow crossed a fence to arrive at the location of the subject accident described in the Complaint.
- 6. That Defendant Fallini's cattle have previously been involved in incidents with motor vehicles on the roadway.
- 7. That Defendant Fallini does not track the location of her cattle while they are grazing away from her property.
- 8. That Defendant Fallini does not remove her cattle from the roadway when notified that the cattle are in a roadway.
- 9. That the subject cow was not visible at night.

- 10. That Defendant Fallini was aware that the subject cow was not visible at night prior to the incident that is the subject of the Complaint.
- 11. That the subject cow was in the roadway of SR 375 at the time of the incident that is the subject of the Complaint.
- 12. That the subject cow's presence in the roadway of SR 375 was the cause of the motor vehicle accident that is the subject of the Complaint.
- 13. That Defendant Fallini did not know the location of the subject cow at the time of the incident that is the subject of the Complaint.
- 14. That the presence of a reflective or luminescent tag on the subject cow would have made the subject cow visible at the time of the incident that is the subject of the Complaint.

(AA I, 0024-0028.)

B. Procedural History Before the First Appeal

Plaintiff filed a lawsuit in Clark County, Nevada. The case was later transferred to Pahrump, Nye County, upon Defendant's request and thereafter re-filed on **January 31, 2007** in Pahrump, Nye County, Nevada. (AA I, 0001-0006.) Defendant filed her Answer and Counterclaim on **March 14, 2007**. (AA I, 0007-0011.) In her Answer, Defendant asserted three different affirmative defenses related to Chapter 568 of the Nevada Revised Statutes. (PA I, 0008.) Defendant's Counterclaim also sought to recover the monetary value of the cow pursuant to Chapter 568. (AA I, 0008-0010.)

On **October 31, 2007**, Plaintiff submitted interrogatories to Defendant. Although they were timely and properly served, the interrogatories were never answered. (AAI, 0053-0062.) Plaintiff also submitted Rule 36 requests for admission and her first set of requests for production of documents on **October 31, 2007**. (AAI, 0038-0041; AAI, 0043-0051.) A second set of requests for production of documents were also submitted to Defendant on **July 2, 2008**, requesting information

related to Defendant's insurance policies and/or insurance carriers that may provide coverage for the damages that occurred as a result of the incident. (AAI, 0064-0069.)

Defendant <u>never</u> responded to <u>any</u> of these requests, completely stifling the discovery process. On or about May 16, 2008, Plaintiff filed a Motion for Partial Summary Judgment. (AA I, 0012-0023.) Defendant <u>did not oppose</u> that motion and the Court granted the Motion for Partial Summary Judgment on the issue of liability on July 30, 2008. (AA I, 0026-0028.) Notice of Entry of the Order Granting Plaintiff's Motion for Summary Judgment was served on Defendant on August 15, 2008. (AA I, 0024-0025.)

In the meantime, Plaintiff had attempted to amicably resolve the discovery dispute and obtain a copy of Defendant's applicable insurance policies, but to no avail. On **February 24, 2009**, Plaintiff sent a letter to Defendant's counsel seeking responses to the discovery. (AA I, 0077.)

Plaintiff's counsel, Mr. Aldrich, also attempted to discuss this discovery issue with Defendant's counsel, Mr. Kuehn, as well. On or about **March 6, 2009**, Plaintiff's counsel contacted the office of Defendant's counsel, but was informed that Mr. Kuehn was not available. Mr. Aldrich left a message that included Mr. Aldrich's phone number and asked that Mr. Kuehn return the call. No return call ever came. (AA I, 0079-0081.)

On **March 18, 2009**, Mr. Aldrich again contacted the office of Mr. Kuehn. Once again, he was informed that Mr. Kuehn was not available. As before, Mr. Aldrich left a message that included his phone number and asked that Mr. Kuehn return the call. No return call ever came. (AA I, 0079-0081.)

On March 23, 2009 – nearly nine months after propounding the discovery – Plaintiff filed a Motion to Compel Defendant's Production of Documents, including information regarding any and all insurance policies that may provide coverage for the incident as had been previously sought in the Plaintiff's second set of requests for

7 || 8 ||

production of documents. (AA I, 0029-0081.) Defendant did not oppose the Motion to Compel in writing. This motion was heard on **April 27, 2009**. Defendant's attorney, Mr. Kuehn, attended the hearing. The Court granted Plaintiff's Motion to Compel and awarded Mr. Aldrich \$750.00 in sanctions for having to bring the motion. (AA I, 0085-0086.) A Notice of Entry of Order on the Order Granting Plaintiffs Motion to Compel Defendant's Production of Documents was entered on **May 18, 2009** and was served by mail on Defendant's counsel. Defendant never complied with the Order. (AA I, 0082-0083.)

On June 16, 2009, Plaintiff filed a Motion to Strike Defendant's Answer and Counterclaim due to Defendant's complete and continued failure to respond to discovery requests or to comply with the Court's Order. (AA I, 0087-0093.) Defendant's counsel again failed to oppose the motion in writing but did attend the hearing, during which he provided no explanation as to why Defendant had failed to respond to all discovery requests. He did, however, advise the court that Defendant would respond to the discovery requests. Based on counsel's representation, the court denied Plaintiff's Motion to Strike. However the district court ordered Defendant to comply with the Order granting Plaintiff's Motion to Compel and to respond to Plaintiff's discovery requests by August 12, 2009; otherwise Defendant to pay an additional \$1,000.00 sanction. (AA I, 0147-0148.) Following the hearing, Defendant still did not comply with the district court's Order and failed to respond to Plaintiff's discovery requests.

On **August 31, 2009**, Plaintiff brought an Ex Parte Motion for Order to Show Cause Why Defendant Susan Fallini and Her Counsel Should Not Be Held in Contempt. (AA I, 0149-0155.) It its Order Regarding Order to Show Cause Why Defendant Susan Fallini and Her Counsel Should Not Be Held In Contempt of Court, dated **October 8, 2009**, Defendant was judicially instructed to produce all documents

responsive to Plaintiff's discovery requests by **October 12, 2009**. The court further ordered that if Defendant did not supply the requested information by the October 12, 2009 deadline, Defendant's counsel would be held in contempt of court and would be fined \$150.00 a day, beginning **October 13, 2009**. Further, the Court ordered that if the requested information was not provided by October 12, 2009, the Court would strike Defendant's pleadings in their entirety. (AA I, 0163-0164.) Defendant ignored the district court's order and the deadline came and went with no response from Defendant.

On **November 4, 2009**, the district court entered its order striking Defendant's pleadings. Because Defendant's answer and counterclaim had been stricken in its entirety, all the allegations of the Complaint were deemed to be true. (AA I, 0165-0170.) On February 4, 2010, the Clerk of the Court entered Default against Defendant. (AA I, 0171-0175.)

Despite repeated requests, Defendant failed and refused to provide any insurance information, or a response that Defendant had no insurance. Consequently, Plaintiff was again forced to bring yet another Ex Parte Motion for Order to Show Cause Why Defendant Fallini and Her Counsel Should Not Be Held in Contempt and Possible Sanctions Be Imposed. (AA I, 0176-0187.) The Order to Show Cause was granted, and another contempt hearing was held on **May 24, 2010**. Although Defendant and her counsel, Harry Kuehn, were not in attendance at the hearing, Thomas Gibson, Esq., Mr. Kuehn's law partner, appeared at the hearing. (AA I, 0194.) Following argument by counsel, the Court made substantial findings of fact and conclusions of law. Additionally, the Court once again held Defendant and her counsel in contempt of court and sanctioned them an additional \$5,000.00. (AA I, 0191-0201.) Further, the Court again ordered Defendant to provide the information that had been ordered on several prior occasions, and imposed a \$500.00 per day sanction, beginning **June 1, 2010**, if Defendant did not respond as ordered. (AA I,

On **June 17, 2010**, Defendant filed a substitution of attorneys, substituting Marvel & Kump and John Ohlson, Esq. for the firm of Gibson & Kuehn. (AA I, 0202-0203.)

On **June 21, 2010**, Plaintiff filed an Application for Default Judgment. (AA II, 0204-0265.) On **June 23, 2010**, Defendant filed an Opposition to the Application for Default Judgment, arguing that the Judgment should not be entered because it was an injustice to her to allow Default Judgment to be entered against Defendant. (AA II, 0266-0268.)

On **July 2, 2010**, Defendant filed a Motion to Reconsider Prior Orders, asking the court to reconsider the Order granting summary judgment and the Order striking the Answer and Counterclaim. (AA II, 0269-0295.) In that Motion, Defendant, through her counsel, argued that "the Court was forced to accept the false factual premise **due to Kuehn's failures**." (AA II, 0278 (emphasis added).) Defendant went on to explain how Mr. Kuehn had breached his duty of professional responsibility to his client. (AA II, 0279.) There was no mention of any alleged "fraud on the Court" by Plaintiffs counsel, Mr. Aldrich.

On **July 19, 2010**, a hearing was held on Defendant's Motion for Reconsideration of Prior Orders. That motion was denied and the district court proceeded with a prove up hearing. During the hearing, the district court allowed Defendant's counsel to cross-examine witnesses and to call his own witness – Defendant Fallini – despite the fact that Defendant's Answer had been stricken and default had been entered against her. Defendant testified that the incident occurred in open range land. (AA II, 0322.) When Plaintiff's counsel objected to the question by *Defendant's* attorney as to whether the incident had occurred in open range land, the following critical exchange occurred:

THE COURT: It doesn't matter. I'm aware that it is.

Go ahead.

MR. OHLSON: If you are, Your Honor, you'll take judicial notice of

that?

THE COURT: That'll be fine.

(AA II, 0322 (emphasis added).) It is therefore indisputable that the district court confirmed it knew where the incident occurred and that the court was taking judicial notice that the incident occurred in open range land.

On **August 18, 2010**, an Order was entered in this matter wherein the district court awarded Plaintiff \$1,000,000.00 in damages for grief, sorrow and loss of support, \$1,640,696.00 in damages for future lost earnings, \$50,000.00 in attorney's fees, \$35,000.00 in sanctions levied against Defendant, and \$5,188.85 in funeral and other related expenses. (AA II, 0335-0341.) On **September 7, 2010**, Defendant filed a Notice of Appeal. (AA II, 0342-0344.)

C. Procedural History While First Appeal Pending

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