**IN THE
SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA**

<p>Estate of MICHAEL DAVID ADAMS, By and through his mother JUDITH ADAMS, Individually and on behalf of the Estate,</p> <p style="text-align:right">Appellant,</p> <p style="text-align:center">vs.</p> <p>SUSAN FALLINI,</p> <p style="text-align:right">Respondent.</p>	<p style="text-align:right">Electronically Filed Supreme Court No. 68033-2016 01:38 p.m. May 04 2016 Tracie K. Lindeman District Court Case No. CV24539 Clerk of Supreme Court</p> <p style="text-align:center"><u>RESPONDENT'S ANSWERING BRIEF</u></p>
---	--

N.R.A.P. 26.1 DISCLOSURE

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENTS

This Court lacks appellate jurisdiction to review the 60(b) Order because Appellant failed to file a timely notice of appeal as to the 60(b) Order within the mandatory and statutory prescribed period following notice of that order's entry. Appellant's timely appeal of the Final Judgment fails to vest jurisdiction in this Court to entertain the appeal of the 60(b) Order. All issues relating to the 60(b) Order raised by Appellant on appeal should be stricken as outside of this Court's limited jurisdiction. If this Court, however, entertains Appellant's appeal of the 60(b) Order, this Court must also entertain Respondent's challenge of the Order Denying Reconsideration.

The district court had inherent jurisdiction and authority to enter the 60(b) Order and remedy the fraud upon the court. Fraud on the court has been recognized for centuries as a basis for setting aside a final judgment and there is no time limit or limit on the power of a court to relieve a party from a judgment for fraud on the court. Law of the case and the rule of mandate did not compel the district court to deny Ms. Fallini's Motion for Relief from Judgment Pursuant to N.R.C.P. 60(b) because this Court had not previously considered, addressed or decided the issues of Mr. Aldrich's misconduct or fraud on the court. Further, issue preclusion is not applicable as fraud on the court is expressly excluded from the doctrine and issue preclusion only applies after an issue is actually litigated and necessarily decided.

Prior to the 60(b) Order, the issue of fraud on the court had not been actually litigated or necessarily decided—it had not been addressed by any court.

An officer of the court is held to a higher standard of conduct. Because simple dishonesty of an officer of the court is so damaging and prevents the judicial machinery from performing its impartial task of adjudging cases in the usual manner, attorneys are subject to greater scrutiny. Here, Mr. Aldrich knew that the accident occurred on open range but decided to utilize the rules of procedure inappropriately to advance a known-false fact to obtain a monetary judgment. These actions undermined the court's ability to properly adjudge the case at hand.

The district court, who suffered the fraud and was involved in this case from the beginning, did not abuse its broad discretion when it set aside the default judgment for fraud on the court. Setting aside the fraudulently obtained judgment was appropriate and necessary to preserve and protect the judicial process. Further, the district court properly considered the victim in this case—finding that Ms. Fallini had suffered an injustice, which resulted in a multi-million-dollar judgment without the merits of case being addressed.

This Court must affirm the Final Judgment entered by the district court because the Final Judgment is based on and consistent with Nevada law and the undisputed fact that the accident occurred on open range. The 60(b) Order was meant to provide relief and get to the merits of the case. Whenever possible, cases should

be heard and decided on the merits. Accordingly, the Final Judgment should be affirmed.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

Appellant erroneously states that “[a]ll decisions of the district court following this Court’s Order Affirming in Part, Reversing in Part, and Remanding are subject to de novo review.” (Appellant’s Opening Br 22). That is incorrect. The Court’s review of the Order entered on August 6, 2014 in response to Ms. Fallini’s Motion for Relief from Judgment pursuant to N.R.C.P. 60(b) is subject to the abuse of discretion standard of review. *Bianchi v. Bank of Am., N.A.*, 124 Nev. 472, 474, 186 P.3d 890, 892 (2008) (“Motions under N.R.C.P. 60(b) are within the sound discretion of the district court, and this court will not disturb the district court’s decision absent an abuse of discretion.”). The Supreme Court’s review, should it determine the 60(b) Order is subject to appeal, should be deferential to the district court, utilizing an abuse of discretion standard. *Bonnell v. Lawrence*, 128 Nev. Adv. Op 37, 282 P.3d 712, 716 (2012). “[T]he question on appeal is not how this court would have ruled as an original matter on the facts presented, but whether the district court abused its discretion in ruling as it did.” *NC-DSH, Inc. v. Garner*, 125 Nev. 647, 657 n. 4, 218 P.3d 853, 860 n. 4 (2009).

The standard of review for an order denying a motion to reconsider is likewise an abuse of discretion standard. *See AA Primo Builders, LLC v. Washington*, 126 Nev. 578, 589, 245 P.3d 1190, 1197 (2010).

This Court reviews subject matter jurisdiction as a question of law subject to de novo review. *Am. First Fed. Credit Union v. Soro*, 131 Nev. Adv. Op. 73, 359 P.3d 105, 106 (2015).

The appeal of the Final Judgment is subject to an abuse of discretion standard or de novo review depending on whether the question at hand is one of fact or of law. A district court's legal conclusions are reviewed de novo. *Otak Nevada, L.L.C. v. Eight Jud. Dist. Ct.*, 129 Nev. Adv. Op. 86, 312 P.3d 491, 497 (2013). Factual determinations are reviewed under abuse of discretion standard such that factual findings of the district court will only be overturned if they are clearly erroneous. *Garventa v. Gardella*, 63 Nev. 304, 310, 169 P.2d 540, 543 (1946). "An abuse of discretion occurs when no reasonable judge could reach a similar conclusion under similar circumstances." *Leavitt v. Siems*, 130 Nev. Adv. Op. 54, 330 P.3d 1, 5 (2014) (emphasis added). The determination that the accident occurred on open range is a question of fact subject to abuse of discretion review. The application of that fact pursuant to Chapter 568 of the Nevada Revised Statutes to dismiss Appellant's claim with prejudice is a question of law subject to de novo review.

Evidentiary determinations as to process and acceptable evidence are reviewed for an abuse of discretion. *Boulder City v. Cinnamon Hills Assoc.*, 110 Nev. 238, 244, 871 P.2d 320, 324 (1994).

ARGUMENT AND ANALYSIS

I. THE DISTRICT COURT HAD JURISDICTION TO ENTER THE 60(B) ORDER AND WAS NOT COMPELLED TO REACH A DIFFERENT RESULT.

A. Jurisdiction to Remedy Fraud is Both Statutory and Inherent

The district court had jurisdiction and power to set aside the default judgment for fraud upon the court. “Fraud upon the court has been recognized for centuries as a basis for setting aside a final judgment, sometimes even years after it was entered.” *NC-DSH, Inc.*, 125 Nev. at 653 (emphasis added). “[T]here is no time limitation.” *Id.* at 862 *quoting Price v. Dunn*, 106 Nev. 100, 104, 787 P.2d 785, 787 (Nev. 1990). Indeed, N.R.C.P. 60(b)’s savings clause says, “This rule does not limit the power of a court to entertain an independent action to relieve a party from a judgment, order, or proceeding, or to set aside a judgment for fraud upon the court.” N.R.C.P. 60(b) (emphasis added). And while finality of judgment matters, “[w]hen a judgement is shown to have been procured by fraud upon the court, no worthwhile interest is served in protecting the judgment.” *NC-DSH, Inc.*, 125 Nev. at 653.

Moreover, this Court has held that a trial court has inherent jurisdiction to remedy fraud upon the court, and the court can proceed even in the absence of further action by a party. *Murphy v. Murphy*, 103 Nev. 185, 734 P.2d 738 (1987). In *Murphy*, a petitioner moved to set aside a divorce property distribution by filing an N.R.C.P. 60(b) motion for fraud on the court nearly a year after the distribution. *Id.* A domestic relations referee heard the matter and concluded that the district court lacked jurisdiction because more than six months had elapsed since entry of the decree. *Id.*

at 186. The district court, adopting that conclusion, dismissed the motion, but this Court reversed. *Id.* The Court reasoned that the six-month limitation is inapplicable to fraud on the court. *Id.* Further, the Court determined that motion practice under N.R.C.P. 60(b) is an appropriate means to seek relief for fraud upon the court. *Id.* The Nevada Supreme Court is not alone in its holding on this matter. Courts throughout the country have dismissed, defaulted, and sanctioned litigants for fraud on the court, often citing the inherent power given to all courts to fashion appropriate remedies and sanctions for conduct which abuses the judicial process. *See, e.g., Brockton Savings Bank v. Peat, Marwick, Mitchell & Co.*, 771 F.2d 5, 11-12 (1st Cir. 1985) (affirming district court’s entry of default judgment under court’s inherent powers in response to defendant’s abusive litigation practices); *Wyle v. R.J. Reynolds Indus., Inc.*, 709 F.2d 585, 589 (9th Cir. 1983) (“courts have inherent power to dismiss an action when a party has willfully deceived the court and engaged in conduct utterly inconsistent with the orderly administration of justice.”); *Eppes v. Snowden*, 656 F. Supp. 1267, 1279 (E.D. Ky. 1986) (where fraud committed, court has “inherent power [to dismiss] . . . to protect the integrity of its proceedings”).

Consistent with the express language of N.R.C.P. 60(b)—and this Court’s opinion in *Murphy*—the District Court properly entertained Ms. Fallini’s motion and ruled on it.

B. Law of the Case and The Rule of Mandate Did Not Compel the District Court to Deny Fallini’s Motion for Relief.

It was proper for the District Court to entertain Fallini’s Motion for Relief from Judgment Pursuant to N.R.C.P. 60(b) and allow her an opportunity to present additional facts and evidence in support thereof.

The law of the case doctrine precludes a court from reconsidering an issue decided previously by the same court or by a higher court in the identical case. *United States v. Lummi Indian Tribe*, 235 F.3d 443, 452 (9th Cir. 2000). “Application of the doctrine is discretionary.” *Hall v. City of Los Angeles*, 697 F.3d 1059, 1067 (9th Cir. 2012). Further, “[t]he doctrine only applies to issues previously determined, not to matters left open by the appellate court.” *Wheeler Springs Plaza, LLC v. Beemon*, 119 Nev. 260, 266, 71 P.3d 1258, 1262 (2003). Importantly, “for the law-of-the-case doctrine to apply, the appellate court must actually address and decide the issue explicitly or by necessary implication.” *Reconstrust Co. v. Zhang*, 130 Nev. Adv Op. 1, 317 P.3d 814, 818 (2014).

“The rule of mandate is similar to, but broader than, the law of the case doctrine.” *United States v. Cote*, 51 F.3d 178, 181 (9th Cir. 1990). The rule of mandate provides that any “district court that has received the mandate of an appellate court cannot vary or examine that mandate for any purpose other than executing it.” *Hall v. City of Los Angeles*, 697 F.3d 1059, 1067 (9th Cir. 2012).

However, “although lower courts are obliged to execute the terms of a mandate, they are free as to ‘anything not foreclosed by the mandate.’” *United States v. Kellington*, 217 F.3d 1084, 1092-93 (9th Cir. 2000) (citing *Herrington v. County of Sonoma*, 12 F.3d 901, 904 (9th Cir. 1993) (emphasis added)). *Kellington* noted that “[o]n remand, courts are often confronted with issues that were never considered by the remanding court.” *Id.*, citing *Biggins v. Hazen Paper Co.*, 111 F.3d 205, 209 (1st Cir. 1997), cert denied, 522 U.S. 952 (1997) (emphasis added). “In such cases, ‘[b]roadly speaking, mandates require respect for what the higher court decided, not for what it did not decide.’” *Id.*, citing *Biggins* at 209 (citing *Rogers v. Hill*, 289 U.S. 582, 587-88, (1933)) (additional citations omitted). In other words, it “leaves to the [lower] court any issue not expressly or impliedly disposed of on appeal.” *Nguyen v. United States*, 792 F.2d 1500, 1502 (9th Cir. 1986) (citation omitted).

The district court did not violate the law of the case, nor did the district court violate the rule of mandate. On March 29, 2013, the Nevada Supreme Court entered its *Order Affirming in Part, Reversing in Part and Remanding*. (AA, IV, 732-38). In that Order, this Court considered (1) whether the district court erred in denying Fallini’s motion for reconsideration; (2) whether the district court erred in vacating the jury trial; and (3) whether the district court erred in its award of damages. (*Id.*) But whether Appellant and her attorney committed a fraud on the court was never decided, explicitly or implicitly, by this Court or any other court. (*Id.*) Whether these arguments were raised is irrelevant to the application of law of the case: Reviewing

or even considering an issue is not remotely equal to actually and explicitly addressing and deciding an issue. Neither the issue of misconduct of Mr. Aldrich nor fraud on the court were actually addressed. Therefore, the law of the case doctrine is not applicable.

As it relates to Fallini's 60(b) Motion, this Court simply considered the broader impact of failing to respond to requests for admission. (Id.) It held, "Fallini's argument is unpersuasive because she has not raised a new issue of fact or law . . . [and] "has presented no evidence on appeal to alter the conclusive impact of admissions under N.R.C.P. as a basis for partial summary judgment." (Id.) But the Court never held that Fallini should be precluded from filing motions or presenting "new issues of fact or law" or other evidence in support of a claim for fraud on the court. The district court recognized this as well:

As a matter of fact, back when we were doing this case four years ago and so forth, if I remember correctly, we never even got into the facts of the case. I know I didn't. I never saw any driving report, I never heard anybody was drunk. I don't think I was even sure about where the accident occurred at. All I saw in the complaint was at some highway out in rural Nevada, and we never got into the facts of this case. Never during the four years it's been litigated have we gotten into the facts of this case. It's a blank slate to me. Everything that's occurred in this case has occurred procedurally.

(Hr'g 70-71 July 28, 2014, AA, VI, 1123-1217) (emphasis added)).

Consequently, this Court never considered, and certainly did not address or decide, the factual findings subsequently made by the district court: (1) That "Mr.

Aldrich knew or should have known that the accident occurred on open range.” (2) That Mr. Aldrich was in possession of the accident report prior to his request for admissions, which clearly states that the collision occurred on open range. (3) That Appellant created a memorial website advocating against open range laws shortly after the accident in 2005. (4) That Mr. Aldrich received Ms. Fallini’s answer that contained an open range affirmative defense. (5) That even if Mr. Aldrich was not aware the area was open range in 2007, he likely discovered it was open range afterwards and instead of correcting this alleged known falsehood, he utilized Fallini’s admission that this area was not open range as grounds to obtain a favorable award of summary judgment. (AA, VI, 1218-1233, 60(b) Order).

These additional facts, alone, are sufficient to extinguish Appellant’s rule of mandate and law of the case assertions. And simply put, because Fallini never moved to set aside the judgment because of a fraud on the court until after this Court entered its mandate, it was impossible for this Court to have reached the merits of that argument.

Accordingly, the rule of mandate did not compel or preclude the result reached by the district court that a fraud on the court was committed. *See Hall*, 697 F.3d at 1067 (holding that where appellate court reversed an order granting summary judgment to defendants on certain issues, the rule of mandate did not require the district court to deny the defendants’ subsequent motion for summary judgment on the same issues); *United States v. Kellington*, 217 F.3d 1084, 1095 (holding that

where appellate court reversed a judgment of acquittal but did not rule on a motion for new trial, the rule of mandate did not require the district to deny the new trial motion).

C. Issue Preclusion Is Not Applicable.

First, fraud on the court is an exception to issue preclusion. Second, the general application of issue preclusion does not apply to preclude issues that have merely been raised and never decided. Therefore, the 60(b) Order was not subject to issue preclusion.

1. Fraud on the Court is Excepted from the Doctrine of Issue Preclusion

Fraud on the court is excepted from the issue preclusion because the judgment's legitimacy is called into question. *Calderon v. Thompson*, 523 U.S. 538 (1998). Indeed, an action to set aside a judgment for fraud on the court demands a departure from the doctrine of issue preclusion. *NC-DSH, Inc.*, 123 Nev. at 653. “[N]o worthwhile interest is served” in protecting a judgment procured by fraud. *Id.*

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